



March 2023 Volume 3 Issue 3

CADTH Horizon Scan

An Overview of Clinical Applications of Virtual and Augmented Reality

Emerging Health Technologies



Authors: Keeley Farrell, Danielle MacDougall

Acknowledgement: Reg Urbanowski, EdD, MScOT, BScOT, Dean, College of Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Manitoba

ISSN: 2563-6596

Disclaimer: The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up to date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to Requests@CADTH.ca



Table of Contents

Key Messages	4
Purpose	4
Methods	4
Literature Search Strategy	4
Study Selection	5
Peer Review	5
Background	5
The Technologies	6
Availability	7
Cost	
Summary of the Evidence	9
Acute and Chronic Pain	9
Rehabilitation	
Mental Health	
Safety	
Additional Considerations	14
Uptake	
Standards and Regulations	
Final Remarks	15
References	

Key Messages

- This Horizon Scan summarizes the available information regarding virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR) interventions for various clinical applications. While the technologies are not new, the use of VR and AR as clinical interventions in health care is still emerging in Canadian health care systems.
- VR interventions have been studied in various clinical applications, including acute and chronic pain, stroke, traumatic brain injury, cerebral palsy, Parkinson disease, autism spectrum disorder, anxiety and depression, mental health in older adults, and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Limited information on AR interventions was identified in this Horizon Scan.
- There is a wide range of VR and AR hardware and software available that varies in cost and complexity. Much of this hardware and software is commercially available; however, some have been developed specifically for clinical use.
- There are several VR interventions for various clinical indications cleared by the FDA and available in the US.
- Many factors should be taken into account when considering implementing a VR or AR intervention, including those related to safety, privacy, and access. It will be essential to ensure equitable access to VR and AR interventions so that their introduction does not exacerbate health inequities.

Purpose

The purpose of this Horizon Scan is to present health care stakeholders in Canada with an overview of information related to VR and AR for various clinical applications, a description of some of the published studies, and a summary of some important considerations associated with the potential implementation of the technologies should emerging evidence demonstrate value. This report is not a systematic review and does not involve critical appraisal or include a detailed summary of study findings. It is not intended to provide recommendations for or against using the technology.

Methods

Literature Search Strategy

A limited literature search was conducted by an information specialist on critical resources, including MEDLINE, the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, the International HTA Database, the websites of Canadian and major international health technology agencies, and a focused internet search. The search strategy comprised controlled vocabulary, such as the National Library of Medicine's MeSH (Medical Subject Headings), and keywords. The search concepts were augmented reality, clinical applications, and pediatrics. No filters were applied to limit the retrieval by study type. Where possible, retrieval was limited to the human population. The search was completed on September 20, 2022 and limited to English-language documents published since January 1, 2017.

Study Selection

One author screened the literature search results and reviewed the full text of all potentially relevant studies. Studies were considered for inclusion if the intervention was VR, AR, or mixed reality and the technology was used as a health intervention with the goal to have an impact on health outcomes. Studies in which the technology user was the health care provider (e.g., the technology was used for provider training or to assist with surgical procedures) were excluded.

Peer Review

One clinical expert reviewed a draft version of this bulletin. Expert comments and feedback were considered in the final report.

Background

Extended reality is an umbrella term that covers VR, AR, and mixed reality.¹ VR is a digital environment made up entirely of computer-generated content in which people can interact with their surroundings in real-time.² The level of immersion the user experiences in the virtual world can vary depending on the VR system used.³ Nonimmersive VR involves screens to reproduce images of the virtual world.³ Immersive VR systems provide a complete simulated experience through head-mounted displays and audio and haptic devices.³ AR integrates virtual elements with reality by superimposing digital elements onto the real world as seen on a screen.^{1,4} Unlike VR, which replaces the real-world environment with a virtual world, AR augments a user's perception of the real world without entirely obscuring it.⁴ Mixed reality is a hybrid of virtual and real-world settings that creates an immersive environment where users can engage with virtual items as if they were in the real world.² Mixed reality is more immersive than AR and involves wearable hardware that enables interaction between the real and virtual worlds.²

Extended reality technologies have been used in health care for over a decade. For example, the first VR clinic opened in Korea in 2005 for people with schizophrenia, social phobia, and alcohol use disorder.⁵ Initially, the cost of these technologies was prohibitive; however, the development of smartphone technology and the emergence of more affordable devices such as head-mounted displays have made the use of extended reality in health care more feasible.^{5,6} There has been growing interest in these technologies leading to studies in a wide range of health care applications.^{2,4} These include biomedical engineering, virtual training for surgeries and medical devices, medical education, telemedicine, telehealth, telerehabilitation, and telemonitoring, as part of diagnosis or treatment for various clinical indications.^{2,4}

The current standard of care for multiple disease areas, such as acute and chronic pain and ADHD, includes using medications.^{6,7} However, these medications may be associated with serious side effects and are not always effective.^{6,7} The is interest in investigating alternative therapies, including VR,- or AR-based interventions. Additionally, VR-based interventions could provide cost savings or be more feasible than alternative options in some cases. For example, it may be more viable and less costly to use VR-based exposure therapy for flight anxiety rather than purchasing a plane ticket.⁸ The use of VR in patient care offers many potential advantages, including creating environments that meet specific patient needs, facilitating real-time feedback, providing an entertaining tool that may increase patient motivation,

providing experiences that are fully controlled and may be better suited for repeated practice, and creating experiences which may be impossible in the real world.^{39,10} There are also potential challenges to the use of extended reality technologies for health care applications, including costs (e.g., hardware, software development), technical issues (e.g., computational limitations, tracking issues, battery consumption), privacy and security concerns (e.g., hacking, data collection), and safety (e.g., side effects, addiction).⁴ An additional challenge to be considered is the ability of health care providers and patients to use these technologies effectively. Training for health care providers and patients on these technologies may be required.

This Horizon Scan aims to provide an overview of emerging clinical applications of extended reality technologies, focusing on applications in which the technology is used as a health intervention and aims to affect the health outcomes of the user (e.g., VR distraction therapy). While there is also a range of technologies being developed to be used by and for health care providers (e.g., AR-assisted surgical procedures), these are not the focus of and are not included in this report.

The Technologies

Extended Reality technologies used in clinical applications include hardware and software that are commercially available and developed explicitly for use in health care.

Devices used for AR can include smartphones, tablets, specialized glasses, and headsets.^{4,11} Smartphones and tablets can combine virtual elements with the real world as seen through cameras.¹¹ AR glasses and headsets are semitransparent and overlay virtual information onto the real-world.¹¹ One example is the Microsoft HoloLens which is an AR/mixed reality headset that includes a self-contained computer with tracking sensors, 3-D mapping capabilities, a camera, speakers, and WiFi connectivity.⁴

Devices like computers and video game systems can be used for nonimmersive VR. In nonimmersive VR, the virtual environment is displayed on a screen. Patients can interact with the environment using various devices such as a keyboard and mouse, controllers, and motion-tracking systems.¹² Video game systems that have been used in research into clinical applications of nonimmersive VR include Nintendo Wii, PlayStation EyeToy, and Xbox Kinect.¹²

Immersive VR can involve surround-screen, projection-based, head-mounted, or boommounted displays.¹⁰ Surround-screen projection-based displays (e.g., Cave Automatic Virtual Environment) typically have several projection walls and motion trackers that track users' head and body movements.¹⁰ These displays allow multiple users to simultaneously experience the virtual world in the same physical environment.¹⁰ VR head-mounted displays are small monitors that are worn on the head or built-in as part of a helmet and positioned so that they take up the entire field of view or ensure that the display is always within the field of view of the user.¹³ There are multiple commercially available head-mounted displays, including Oculus Rift, HTC VIVE, and Samsung Gear.^{4,10} head-mounted displays can be combined with other devices such as joysticks, haptic gloves, and motion sensors.^{3,10} Some head-mounted displays require a computer or video game system, whereas others are standalone devices.² Boom-mounted displays are a variation of head-mounted displays in which the display is suspended from an articulated arm and held to the user's face with handles.¹⁰

VR software content can include virtual experiences, simulations, and games.¹⁴ In VR software used in VR exposure therapy, patients are exposed to their source of fear or anxiety in a controlled virtual environment.¹⁴ VR software that has been used in distraction therapy for pain includes VR experiences such as a rollercoaster ride, swimming underwater, travelling around the world, and enjoying nature.¹⁵ VR programs studied that involved people with autism spectrum disorder include simulations that aim to teach various skills such as driving, interviewing, supermarket shopping, and emotion recognition.^{10,16} Some VR interventions involve commercially available games, whereas others use games developed specifically for health applications.¹⁴ Health games can be designed to address limitations in physical or mental functions, build specific skills, or promote positive behaviours.¹⁴ Health games often involve puzzles, graded difficulty, matching patterns, repetitive exercises, exploring an environment, or a pleasant and distracting experience.¹⁴ An example of a health game is SnowWorld, the first immersive VR game designed to reduce pain in patients who have suffered burns.^{14,17} In this game, patients are tasked with throwing snowballs at snowmen and penguins.¹⁴ Additionally, AR and VR software can be used to retrain people in activities of daily living such as self-care, work, or leisure.

There are also VR systems developed for clinical use that include both hardware and software. An example of a VR system explicitly developed for clinical use is Immersive Rehabilitation Exercise (IREX), an upper and lower-extremity exercise system for rehabilitation.¹⁸ IREX consists of a camera connected to a computer that places a full body image of the patient onto the screen within a VR game.¹⁸ IREX has various software applications in which people can enter multiple virtual environments and engage in physical activities that target different body functions.¹⁸ Another example of a VR system developed for use in health care is BikeAround which is intended for use by older adults experiencing physical disabilities, memory problems, or cognitive disabilities (e.g., dementia or Alzheimer disease).¹⁹ BikeAround consists of an exercise bike, a computer, and a flatscreen or dome with a projector that displays images using Google Street View.¹⁹ Users can select any address displayed on the screen and then ride through the virtual path.¹⁹

Availability

At the time of writing, there are no VR or AR devices or software as medical devices intended for therapeutic use that have been authorized by Health Canada.

There are several VR systems for use in health care cleared by the FDA in the US. RelieVRx (formerly EaseVRx; AppliedVR, US) is a VR system the FDA cleared in 2021 for adjunctive treatment of chronic low back pain in adults.^{20,21} The RelieVRx system was developed for at-home use and includes software and a VR headset, controller, and breathing amplifier attached to the headset for use in deep breathing exercises.²¹ The VR therapy program includes pain education, diaphragmatic breathing, pain distraction, and relaxation.²⁰

Luminopia (Luminopia Inc., US) is a VR software indicated for improvement in visual acuity in children aged 4 to 7 with amblyopia (commonly referred to as 'lazy eye') that the FDA cleared in 2021.^{22,23} Luminopia was designed to be used with commercially available head-mounted displays in a home environment.²³ The therapy involves watching television shows in a VR head-mounted display in which images are presented differently to each eye.²³

EYE-SYNC (NeuroSync, US), a VR system that uses eye tracking, received FDA clearance in 2021 to aid in the diagnosis of concussion.^{24,25} EYE-SYNC includes software as well as a VR headset with an eye tracking sensor and a tablet.^{24,25} The patient's ability to synchronize eye movement with a moving object as well as gaze fixation are assessed.²⁵

The REAL System (Penumbra Inc., US) is a VR system designed for physical and neuro rehabilitation in a clinical environment that received FDA clearance in 2019.^{26,27} The REAL System includes software, a VR headset, tracking sensors, and a tablet.²⁸ Patients perform rehabilitation exercises focused on upper body, lower body, or cognition in a virtual world.²⁷

MindMotion PRO (MindMaze, Switzerland) is a VR system cleared by the FDA in 2017 that displays and tracks upper extremity rehabilitation exercises in adults.²⁹⁻³¹ MindMotion PRO is a game-based therapy that uses a combination of 3-D virtual environments as well as avatars for visual feedback.^{29,31} The system is intended for use in a clinical setting under the supervision of a medical professional.²⁹ Additionally, MindMotion GO (MindMaze, Switzerland) is a physical rehabilitation VR system that includes exercises for the upper extremity, trunk, and lower extremity and was cleared by the FDA in 2018.³¹⁻³³ MindMotion GO uses software in combination with the Microsoft Kinect v2 and Leap motion controller and can be used by adults in the clinic or at home.³²

YuGo System (Biogaming Ltd., Israel) is a VR physical rehabilitation software designed to be used with the Microsoft Kinect that the FDA cleared in 2016.³⁴ Patients perform exercises for the upper and lower extremities in a virtual environment, and patient movements are analyzed in real time, and feedback is provided.³⁴

Cost

When calculating the costs of implementing a VR or AR intervention, the costs of the hardware and software, as well as the human resources required, must be considered. The costs of VR hardware can vary considerably depending on the VR system used. For example, the estimated costs of head-mounted displays can range from US\$10 (Google Cardboard) to US\$500 (HTC Vive).² There are additional hardware costs (e.g., computer, smartphone, video game system) if the head-mounted display is not a standalone device. A standalone head-mounted display (e.g., Oculus Go, estimated cost US\$200) could reduce costs.² In contrast, projection-based VR systems (i.e., CAVE) can be much more expensive.³⁵ CAVEs require dedicated personnel for ongoing system maintenance in addition to expensive construction and equipment costs.³⁵ One estimate of the installation costs for a CAVE is €80,000 to €750,000, with estimated monthly maintenance costs of €3,000 or more.³⁶

In contrast to VR devices, AR headsets have yet to experience widespread commercialization due to their high cost.⁴ The estimated cost of AR headsets ranges from US\$899 (Vuzix Blade) to US\$3,000 (Microsoft HoloLens).² However, AR can also be accessed through devices like smartphones and tablets, which are less costly.

In addition to the VR and AR hardware costs, there are also software costs. These costs will range depending on whether the intervention uses software already developed for commercial or clinical use or if the intervention requires new software development. The cost of using software that has already been developed will depend on whether the software can

be purchased outright or requires a subscription. Developing and testing new clinical VR and AR software is associated with high costs.³⁷ These include costs related to hiring software developers and clinical experts, as well as the cost of running clinical trials.³⁷

There may also be costs associated with technical support as well as training health care staff on the use of these technologies. The time required for training staff may depend on the complexity of the hardware and software required for the intervention. Training and technical support may be included in the cost of a licence for an extended reality intervention. In an economic evaluation of a VR therapy for pain, the cost of an annual licence for the VR therapy was US\$3,500. It included a VR headset, a subscription to VR software, and unlimited training and technical support.³⁸A Canadian cost analysis study aimed to estimate the costs associated with running a 4-week home-based VR rehabilitation program for stroke survivors.³⁹ The hardware costs included a computer, screen, keyboard, mouse, internet connection, and Microsoft Kinect camera.³⁹ Additional program costs included installation/ removal, technical support, software subscription, and physiotherapist time.³⁹ The study found that a program supplying all the required technology would cost between CA\$475 and CA\$482 per patient.³⁹ They also estimated that a program would require the patient to supply the other technology needed (i.e., computer, internet etc.).³⁹

Summary of the Evidence

Acute and Chronic Pain

VR has been studied as a potential intervention for both acute and chronic pain. The effect of VR on acute pain has been more widely studied than the effect on chronic pain.⁴⁰ A scoping review of immersive VR for acute and chronic pain found that the proposed mechanism of the impact of VR was a distraction for the majority of acute pain studies. In contrast, the proposed mechanism of effect of VR for chronic pain studies was more commonly embodiment.⁴⁰ Embodiment refers to the sensation that 1's self is located inside a virtual body and has control over that body.⁴¹ The scoping review also found that studies of the use of VR in chronic pain were more likely to develop their own VR programs rather than using commercially available programs.⁴⁰

Children

A 2022 systematic review evaluated the use of VR distraction for pain and anxiety during medical procedures in pediatric patients.¹⁵ The systematic review included a total of 77 studies (59 randomized controlled trials, 6 interventional/observational studies, 3 quasi-experimental studies, 2 cross-sectional studies, 1 retrospective chart review, and 6 case reports) that evaluated VR distraction in 2,174 patients aged from 6 months to 18 years undergoing medical procedures in a variety of settings.¹⁵ The medical procedures in the included studies were burn wound care procedures, postburn injury physiotherapy, dental procedures, needle-related procedures, and other procedures.¹⁵ The majority of studies used a head-mounted device for VR. Additional hardware used included projector-based VR systems, VR glasses, and smartphones inserted into disposable VR headsets.¹⁵ Most studies used a VR game; in the other studies, the participants experienced a VR adventure (e.g., a rollercoaster ride, swimming underwater) or selected a cartoon or movie to watch in their VR headsets.¹⁵



Overall, the results of the included studies suggested that VR distraction may effectively reduce pain and anxiety in pediatric patients undergoing medical procedures.¹⁵ When compared to standard of care (e.g., topical anesthesia, parental presence, watching television, distraction by a child life specialist or nurse), the results were mixed with some included studies reporting a significant reduction in pain or procedural anxiety, stress, or fear for patients treated with VR distraction versus standard of care and other studies reporting no significant difference between groups.¹⁵ For patients undergoing burn wound care, the results of the included studies suggested that VR can reduce pain when combined with standard analgesia.¹⁵ The studies included in the systematic review were heterogeneous regarding the patient population, design, sample size, and type and dosage of VR intervention which may have contributed to the variability in the results. The systematic review's authors suggest that further research is needed that compares VR interventions with varying levels of immersion and interactivity to determine the most effective interventions for different patient populations.¹⁵

Research into the efficacy of VR for reducing pain in pediatric populations living with chronic pain is limited. A 2022 scoping review of immersive VR for acute and chronic pain did not identify any studies that examined the use of VR for children living with chronic pain.⁴⁰

Adults

A 2019 systematic review evaluated immersive VR for treating acute and chronic pain in adults.⁶ Immersive VR was defined as a patient engaged in a simulated world with visual and auditory feedback and the ability to interact with the virtual environment.⁶ The systematic review included 20 studies (14 randomized controlled trials, and 6 quasi-experimental studies).⁶ Ten of the included studies evaluated VR for acute pain (burn pain and medical procedure-related pain) and 10 for chronic pain (musculoskeletal pain, neuropathic pain, and unspecified pain).⁶ The VR equipment used in the studies included goggles, glasses, or another form of head-mounted device, 3-D projectors, and a 2D screen with visual cues that responded to changes in treadmill speed.⁶

The results of most acute pain studies suggested that VR significantly reduces the pain experienced during various medical procedures (labour contractions, episiotomy repair, periodontal procedures) and burn-related pain.⁶ Additionally, the results of 3 out of 4 studies that evaluated acute pain after various medical procedures (episiotomy repair, dressing changes for hand injuries, cardiac procedures) suggested that the addition of VR significantly reduced pain.⁶ The results of studies in adult participants living with chronic pain suggested that VR may reduce pain during VR exposure; however, results were mixed for the effect of VR on reducing pain after exposure.⁶ Therefore, although VR may have the potential to reduce pain, the effect may not be long-lasting.⁶ The authors of the systematic review suggested that the variability in the results may be explained by the different frequencies and durations of VR therapy and the various types of VR equipment used in the included studies.⁶

Rehabilitation

There is research interest in VR-based interventions to improve outcomes in various fields of rehabilitation.^{12,16} Some of these interventions include VR-based treadmill training for lower-extremity rehabilitation, reaching and grasping of virtual objects exercises for upper extremity rehabilitation, and commercially available game platforms (e.g., Nintendo Wii and Xbox Kinect) for upper and lower limb function.¹² Additionally, VR has been studied in cognitive rehabilitation. Cognitive rehabilitation includes various interventions to improve

individuals' psychological, social, mental, and functional cognition.¹⁶ One hypothesis as to why VR rehabilitation may be helpful has to do with the virtual environment; it is experienced as a recreational context that is both rewarding and challenging.⁴² Cognitive and motor processes are stimulated as those using them attempts to solve problems in new and engaging contexts of differing complexity.⁴² Additionally, clinicians can select the duration and difficulty of tasks depending on patient needs.^{12,42}

Stroke, Traumatic Brain Injury, and Cerebral Palsy

A 2021 umbrella review aimed to summarize published meta-analyses regarding using VR interventions to improve physical and cognitive functions in people with stroke, traumatic brain injury, and cerebral palsy.¹² In total, 41 reviews with meta-analyses were included in the umbrella review.¹² Thirty-two reviews included patients with stroke, 6 reviews included children with cerebral palsy, and 3 reviews included patients with acquired brain injury (including stroke and traumatic brain injury).¹² A wide range of both commercially available and customized VR systems were used in the included reviews.¹² The technology used included video game systems (e.g., Xbox Kinect, Nintendo Wii), head-mounted displays, projectors, treadmills, data gloves, exoskeletons, motion-tracking systems, stereoscopic glasses, and more.¹² Control conditions included conventional therapy and passive conditions such as wait lists.¹²

The umbrella review mostly identified evidence rated as low or very low quality by the review authors.¹² However, results from evidence rated as moderate and high quality by the review authors suggested VR may improve mobility, balance, upper limb function, and body structure/function and activity of people with stroke, upper limb function of people with acquired brain injury, and ambulation function of children with cerebral palsy.¹²

Parkinson Disease

A 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to summarize the evidence on VR rehabilitation training for patients with Parkinson disease.⁴³ The systematic review included a total of 16 randomized controlled trials that evaluated VR rehabilitation in 555 patients with Parkinson disease.⁴³ The experimental groups in the included studies were treated with exercise and motor rehabilitation training using VR.⁴³ The VR technology used in the studies varied, including interactive motion-sensing training and commercially available video game systems (e.g., Nintendo Wii, Xbox 360).⁴³ The control groups received conventional rehabilitation training.⁴³

Results from the meta-analysis suggested that VR rehabilitation training significantly improved step and stride length, balance function, mobility, and quality of life versus conventional rehabilitation training in patients with Parkinson disease.⁴³ In contrast, there was no significant difference between groups in gait, activities of daily living, or cognitive function.⁴³ The authors of the systematic review warn that the results should be interpreted with caution due to the heterogeneity among the included studies in terms of treatment intensity, intervention duration, and effect size.⁴³

Autism Spectrum Disorders

A 2022 systematic review evaluated VR-based technologies for improving executive functioning, attention, and memory in children and adults with an autism spectrum disorder.¹⁶ The systematic review included 17 studies (3 RCTs, 4 case-control studies, and 10 single-arm studies) that assessed VR-based cognitive rehabilitation in 226 people with an autism spectrum disorder.¹⁶ The VR technologies used in the studies varied and included head-mounted displays, projection systems with sensors or motion-capture capabilities,



driving simulators, and VR software operating on laptops.¹⁶ A range of VR programs were used in the included studies that aimed to improve cognitive outcomes such as executive functioning (e.g., finances, driving, shopping, street-crossing), attention, and memory.¹⁶ Nine of the included studies reported that VR interventions resulted in statistically significant improvement in cognitive outcomes, 7 studies reported improvements in cognitive outcomes; however, no formal statistical tests were conducted, and 1 study reported no improvements in cognitive outcomes.¹⁶ The systematic review authors state that some important limitations were the small sample sizes of included studies, the need for randomized controlled trials, and the need for long-term training programs and follow-up.¹⁶

Mental Health

Extended reality technologies have been studied to diagnose and treat various mental health conditions. VR has the potential to produce scenarios that may be therapeutically beneficial but impossible to recreate in real life.³⁷ Using VR, individuals can enter simulations of difficult situations and receive immediate feedback and coaching.³⁷ Additionally, the simulations can be repeated, and the difficulty adjusted until learning is achieved.³⁷ One example of VR for mental health conditions is VR exposure therapy which can be used for people with specific phobias and post-traumatic stress disorder.⁴⁴ In VR exposure therapy, patients can be exposed to their feared stimulus in a safe and controlled virtual environment.⁴⁴ Additionally, VR-based interventions have been studied in anxiety disorders, depression, schizophrenia, psychosis, eating disorders, substance use disorders, ADHD, cognitive impairment, and dementia.³⁷

Anxiety and Depression

The effectiveness of VR-enhanced interventions to improve symptoms of anxiety and depression was evaluated in a 2018 systematic review and meta-analysis.⁸ The meta-analysis included 39 randomized controlled trials of VR interventions in 1991 adults with various conditions, including specific phobias (e.g., heights, spiders), social anxiety, panic disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder.⁸ The VR interventions used in the included studies were VR-enhanced exposure therapy and VR-enhanced cognitive behavioural therapy.⁸ The majority of included studies used a head-mounted display.⁸ Control conditions included waitlist, placebo, and treatment as usual. Active comparators included interventions not employing VR (e.g., cognitive behavioural therapy, imaginal exposure, relaxation).⁸

The results of the meta-analysis suggested that VR-based interventions were more effective than control conditions for improving symptoms of anxiety and depression.⁸ There were no significant differences in symptoms of anxiety or depression when VR-based interventions were compared to other active interventions.⁸ The authors of the meta-analysis noted several limitations, including heterogeneity in the results of the included studies, evidence of publication bias, and high or uncertain risk of bias in the included studies.⁸

Older Adults

The use of VR interventions for older adults with mental health conditions was assessed in a 2022 systematic review.⁴⁵ A total of 55 studies were included in the systematic review; 54 studies of Alzheimer dementia or mild cognitive impairment and 1 study of post-traumatic stress disorder.⁴⁵ The majority of included studies were cross-sectional studies.⁴⁵ Computers were used to display the virtual scenes in most studies; however, some included studies used VR headsets.⁴⁵ A range of VR environments were used in the studies, including supermarkets, kitchens, roads and cityscapes, mazes, and forests.⁴⁵ Results of the

included studies suggested that VR applications improved cognitive skills across a range of domains, including spatial cognition, memory, executive function, and activities of daily living.⁴⁵ Additionally, performance on VR tasks in the included studies was able to distinguish between healthy controls, people with mild cognitive impairment, and people with Alzheimer dementia.⁴⁵ Limitations noted by the systematic review authors were that the technology used in most of the included studies does not reflect recent advances in VR technology (i.e., wireless headsets) and the preliminary nature and cross-sectional design of most included studies included in the systematic review. Some studies evaluated immersive VR using a headset and others evaluated nonimmersive VR using a computer.

Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder

A 2022 systematic review aimed to summarize the evidence regarding the use of VR, AR, and mixed reality for diagnosing and treating ADHD in children and adolescents.⁷ Thirty studies (22 case-control, 3 cross-sectional, 2 case studies, 2 quasi-experimental studies, 1 randomized controlled trial) with 2,378 participants were included in the systematic review.⁷ Most of the included studies used VR, with 2 studies that used AR and 1 study that used mixed reality.⁷ Most studies used head-mounted displays and other hardware, including 3-D glasses, computers, headsets, motion sensors, and robots.⁷ The interventions used included a VR classroom continuous performance test, a VR classroom environment, games, web-based VR, and an AR robot.⁷ Six of 7 included studies found VR/AR/mixed reality technologies to be helpful for the diagnosis of ADHD.⁷ Additionally, 8 of 9 included studies found VR/AR/mixed reality technologies beneficial for managing ADHD symptoms.⁷ Limitations of the included studies noted in the systematic review included lack of assessment and management of confounding factors, small sample sizes, and lack of control groups.⁷

Safety

VR can potentially cause very rare serious side effects, such as seizures and interference with medical devices.⁴⁰ More commonly, the use of VR can be linked to cybersickness which can cause fatigue, malaise, dizziness, headaches, and nausea.^{10,40} Cybersickness is a short-term effect that tends to increase during VR exposure and then slowly dissipates once the use of VR is stopped.⁴⁶ Some evidence has demonstrated that cybersickness can be overcome through training with a VR device - using short sessions with breaks to minimize cybersickness symptoms.⁴⁷ There may also be potential long-term effects associated with the use of VR such as sleep disorders and addiction.⁴⁸ Despite this potential to cause adverse events, several researchers have noted a lack of consistent reporting of side effects in studies of VR.^{37,40} The increased use of standardized tools to measure side effects such as the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire or Virtual Reality Sickness Questionnaire in studies of VR has been suggested to allow for a future meta-analysis of the side effects of various forms of VR.³⁷ Methods that have the potential to prevent cybersickness include correct calibration of the VR system, adaptation and customization according to the VR users' needs, use of a more natural user interface, use of lighter head-mounted displays, and ensuring moderate usage of the VR system.9

Safety outcomes were not reported across most of the publications discussed previously. The systematic reviews related to VR for pain and anxiety during medical procedures for children, acute and chronic pain in adults, autism spectrum disorder, anxiety and depression, and mental health conditions in older adults did not report safety outcomes.^{68,15,16,45} Additionally, safety outcomes were not reported in the review of VR, AR, and mixed reality for ADHD.⁷



In the umbrella review of VR in patients with stroke, traumatic brain injury, and cerebral palsy 10 out of the 41 included meta-analyses reported adverse events.¹² Six of the included meta-analyses reported no major adverse events and 6 reported a few cases of mild adverse events (transient dizziness and headache, pain, dizziness, increase in hypertonicity, loss of control, increased spasticity, back ache and fatigue).¹² The systematic review of VR in people with Parkinson disease included 1 trial that reported that 4 patients developed mild dizziness and 1 patient developed severe dizziness and vomiting during the intervention.⁴³

Additional Considerations

Uptake

There are several factors that may encourage the use of VR and AR interventions. For instance, motivation to use the technology may be improved if the virtual environments used are enjoyable and user-friendly.⁹ VR and AR interventions can also be individualized so that they are language- and cultural-specific.¹⁰ Additionally, the virtual environments used can allow patients to experience situations that have a therapeutic benefit but are difficult or impossible to recreate in reality.^{7,37} VR and AR interventions also have the potential to be carried out in people's homes.⁷ This could potentially improve access to care for patients who have difficulty accessing in-person care such as those living in rural or remote locations. However, this would require investment in technologies (e.g., devices, internet) to enable VR or AR interventions in these locations.

There are also factors that could prevent the use of VR and AR interventions. Extended reality technologies such as VR have the potential to cause adverse effects such as cybersickness.⁴⁰ There are other potential safety concerns around the use of these technologies such as sleep disorders, visual symptoms, and addiction.⁴⁸ It is also possible that some patients may find extended reality devices to be uncomfortable to wear. A common limitation noted in studies of VR interventions in children with autism was intolerance of VR glasses.¹⁶ Ensuring devices are comfortable to wear and accommodating to sensory processing disorders could help to encourage their use during treatment sessions.¹⁶ There are also potential negative effects that long-term immersion in AR or VR environments could have on mental health. There is concern that heavy use of VR could lead to symptoms associated with depersonalization/derealization disorder (e.g., feeling that 1's self or the external world are not real).⁴⁹ There are also concerns that the use of VR or AR by vulnerable populations (e.g., individuals prone to psychosis, individuals with cognitive impairment) could lead to difficulties in distinguishing between real events and those that occurred in VR or AR.⁵⁰

Some VR and AR interventions may involve the recording of a range of personal information including facial expressions, eye movement patterns, and body responses and reflexes.^{10,49} There may be privacy concerns related to the collection of this data and therefore, patients should be made aware of and consent to any data collection related to VR and AR interventions.¹⁰ If VR or AR interventions require patients to have access to their own devices (e.g., computer, smartphone, tablet) or internet connection this could pose a barrier to patients without access to these technologies. Additionally, many extended reality technologies are currently commercially available however, they may need to be reclassified as medical devices to ensure coverage under health insurance plans.⁴⁹ Otherwise only those



with the ability to pay for these technologies would have the potential to benefit from them which could exacerbate health inequities.

Standards and Regulations

Standards and regulations related to AR and VR vary by country, profession, and in their stage of development.

Internationally, the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) has a working group that is developing numerous standards related to AR and VR that include device taxonomy, environmental safety, immersive video file and stream formats, and immersive audio file and stream formats, among others.⁵¹ Among other goals, these standards aim to establish common concepts and language related to AR and VR as well as safety standards.

From a regulation standpoint in Canada, both immersive and nonimmersive AR and VR technologies could be regulated as medical devices if they are manufactured, sold, marketed, or represented for any of the uses outlined in the definition of a device in the Food and Drugs Act.⁵² This would include devices already on the consumer market (such as videogaming platforms or commercial AR devices) that begin to market themselves as medical devices or make claims related to their usefulness for medical treatment. AR and VR devices that meet the definition of a device would be considered active devices⁵³ and before regulation would need to be assessed to be classified based on risk class. Additionally, the software used by AR/VR devices that are regulated as medical devices may be classified according to the Software as a Medical Device (SaMD) criteria.⁵⁴

Final Remarks

Extended reality-based interventions are being studied in a variety of clinical areas including acute and chronic pain, rehabilitation, and mental health. Should emerging evidence demonstrate a clear benefit as well as a tolerable safety profile for these interventions they could have a place in augmenting or replacing other therapeutic options. There is a wide range of virtual and AR hardware and software that is commercially available as well as technologies developed specifically for clinical use. It will be important to ensure that access to AR and VR interventions is equitable so that not only those with the ability to pay stand to benefit from these interventions. The interventions used in the identified studies were heterogeneous and therefore, it will be important to determine which components of these interventions (e.g., hardware and software used, intervention duration, level of immersion) impact efficacy. Additionally, most of the identified studies focused on VR interventions and there was a lack of information on the efficacy and safety of AR interventions for patient use identified in this Horizon Scan. There are several VR interventions that have been developed and are in use for a range of therapeutic areas including neuro- and physical rehabilitation, chronic pain, and vision. Further high-quality studies investigating the efficacy and safety of VR and AR interventions as well as cost-effectiveness studies will aid in decision-making around the use of these technologies.

References

- 1. Hu X, Nanjappan V, Georgiev GV. Bursting through the blocks in the human mind. Interact. 2021;28(3):57-61.
- Shaikh TA, Dar TR, Sofi S. A data-centric artificial intelligent and extended reality technology in smart healthcare systems. Soc Netw Anal Min. 2022;12(1):122. PubMed
- 3. Cipresso P, Giglioli IAC, Raya MA, Riva G. The past, present, and future of virtual and augmented reality research: a network and cluster analysis of the literature. Front Psychol. 2018;9:2086. PubMed
- 4. Venkatesan M, Mohan H, Ryan JR, et al. Virtual and augmented reality for biomedical applications. Cell Rep Med. 2021;2(7):100348. PubMed
- 5. Kim S, Kim E. The use of virtual reality in psychiatry: a review. Soa Chongsonyon Chongsin Uihak. 2020;31(1):26-32. PubMed
- 6. Mallari B, Spaeth EK, Goh H, Boyd BS. Virtual reality as an analgesic for acute and chronic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pain Res.* 2019;12:2053-2085. PubMed
- 7. Goharinejad S, Goharinejad S, Hajesmaeel-Gohari S, Bahaadinbeigy K. The usefulness of virtual, augmented, and mixed reality technologies in the diagnosis and treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in children: an overview of relevant studies. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2022;22(1):4. <u>PubMed</u>
- Fodor LA, Cotet CD, Cuijpers P, Szamoskozi S, David D, Cristea IA. The effectiveness of virtual reality based interventions for symptoms of anxiety and depression: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):10323. PubMed
- Bashiri A, Ghazisaeedi M, Shahmoradi L. The opportunities of virtual reality in the rehabilitation of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a literature review. Korean J Pediatr. 2017;60(11):337-343. PubMed
- Zhang M, Ding H, Naumceska M, Zhang Y. Virtual reality technology as an educational and intervention tool for children with autism spectrum disorder: current perspectives and future directions. *Behav Sci (Basel)*. 2022;12(5):138. <u>PubMed</u>
- 12. Voinescu A, Sui J, Stanton Fraser D. Virtual reality in neurorehabilitation: an umbrella review of meta-analyses. J Clin Med. 2021;10(7):1478. PubMed
- 13. Techopedia. Head-mounted display (HMD). 2017; https://www.techopedia.com/definition/2342/head-mounted-display-hmd. Accessed 2022 Nv 29.
- 14. Tao G, Garrett B, Taverner T, Cordingley E, Sun C. Immersive virtual reality health games: a narrative review of game design. *J Neuroeng Rehabil.* 2021;18(1):31. PubMed
- 15. Addab S, Hamdy R, Thorstad K, Le May S, Tsimicalis A. Use of virtual reality in managing paediatric procedural pain and anxiety: an integrative literature review. J Clin Nurs. 2022;31(21-22):3032-3059. PubMed
- Shahmoradi L, Rezayi S. Cognitive rehabilitation in people with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review of emerging virtual reality-based approaches. J Neuroeng Rehabil. 2022;19(1):91. PubMed
- 17. HITLab. Virtual reality pain reduction, University of Washington Seattle and U.W. Harborview Burn Center. Seattle (WA): Human Interface Technology Laboratory, University of Washington: http://www.hitl.washington.edu/projects/vrpain/. Accessed 2022 Dec 01.
- 18. GestureTek Health. IREX. https://gesturetekhealth.com/products/irex. Accessed 2022 Nov 30.
- Hafizi D. BikeAround: combining stationary bikes and Google street view to promote reminiscence and physical activity in long-term care. CADTH Health Technology Update. 2019;24:9-10. <u>https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/hs-eh/en0014-htu_issue24.pdf</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 15.
- RelieVRx. Discover RelieVRx. 2022; <u>https://relievrx.com/about#discover</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 21. FDA authorizes marketing of virtual reality system for chronic pain reduction. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2021: https://www.fda.gov/news -events/press-announcements/fda-authorizes-marketing-virtual-reality-system-chronic-pain-reduction. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- Device Classification Under Section 513(f)(2)(De Novo). Luminopia One. Requester: Luminopia, Inc. De Novo Number: DEN210005. Decision Date: 10/20/2021. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2021: <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfpmn/denovo.cfm?id=DEN210005</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 23. Luminopia. Luminopia: the first FDA-approved* digital therapeutic for amblyopia. 2022; https://luminopia.com/. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- Devices@FDA. EYE-SYNC. Applicant: SyncThink, Inc. 510(k) Number: K202927. Decision Date: 10/02/2021. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2021: <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/devicesatfda/index.cfm?db=pmn&id=K202927</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 25. NeuroSync. EYE-SYNC. 2023; https://www.neurosync.health/product/. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- Devices@FDA. REAL Immersive System. Applicant: Penumbra, Inc. 510(k) Number: K183296. Decision Date: 03/18/2019. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2019: <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/devicesatfda/index.cfm?db=pmn&id=K183296</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 27. Real System. Harness VR for immersive healthcare. 2022; https://www.realsystem.com/. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 28. Real System. Frequently Asked Questions. 2022; https://www.realsystem.com/frequently-asked-guestions/#REALGeneralFAQ. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.

- Access GUDID. Device: MindMotion PRO (03760272650002). Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine: https://accessgudid.nlm.nih.gov/devices/03760272650002. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 30. MindMaze. FDA clears gamified neurorehabilitation system. 2018; https://mindmaze.com/fda-clears-gamified-neurorehabilitation-system/#:~:text=MindMotion%20 G0%20is%20an%20outpatient,days%20after%20a%20neurologic%20incident. Accessed 2022Dec 02.
- 31. MindMaze. MindMotion™ G0. 2023; https://www.mindmaze.com/digital-therapies-for-neurorehabilitation/#mindmotion-pro. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- Access GUDID. Device: MindMotion[™] GO (03760272650019). Bethesda (MD): U.S. National Library of Medicine: <u>https://accessgudid.nlm.nih.gov/devices/03760272650019</u>. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 510(k) Premarket Notification. MindMotion(TM) GO. Applicant: MindMaze SA. 510(k) Number: K173931. Decision Date: 05/17/2018. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2018: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfpmn/pmn.cfm?ID=K173931. Accessed 2022 Dec 02.
- 510(k) Premarket Notification. YuGo System. Applicant: Duet Medical Consulting LTD. 510(k) Number: K151955. Decision Date: 02/05/2016. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Food and Drug Administration; 2016: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfpmn/pmn.cfm?ID=K151955. Accessed 2022 Dec 09.
- 35. de Vasconcelos GN, Malard ML, van Stralen M, et al. Do we still need CAVEs? In: Proceedings of 37 eCAADe and XXIII SIGraDi Joint Conference, "Architecture in the Age of the 4Th Industrial Revolution", Porto 2019, Sousa, José Pedro; Henriques, Gonçalo Castro; Xavier, João Pedro (eds.). São Paulo (Brazil): Blucher; 2019: https://www.proceedings.blucher.com.br/article-details/do-we-still-need-caves-34350. Accessed 2022 Dec 07.
- SkyReal. The VR CAVE, halfway between reality and virtuality. <u>https://sky-real.com/news/the-vr-cave-halfway-between-reality-and-virtuality/#:~:text=There%20can%20</u> be%20many%20obstacles.than%20%E2%82%AC3%2C000%20per%20month. Accessed 2022 Dec 07.
- Cieslik B, Mazurek J, Rutkowski S, Kiper P, Turolla A, Szczepanska-Gieracha J. Virtual reality in psychiatric disorders: a systematic review of reviews. Complement Ther Med. 2020;52:102480. PubMed
- Delshad SD, Almario CV, Fuller G, Luong D, Spiegel BMR. Economic analysis of implementing virtual reality therapy for pain among hospitalized patients. NPJ Digit Med. 2018;1:22. PubMed
- 39. Veras M, Stewart J, Deonandan R, et al. Cost analysis of a home-based virtual reality rehabilitation to improve upper limb function in stroke survivors. *Glob J Health Sci.* 2020;12(2):98-105.
- Baker NA, Polhemus AH, Haan Ospina E, et al. The state of science in the use of virtual reality in the treatment of acute and chronic pain: a systematic scoping review. Clin J Pain. 2022;38(6):424-441. PubMed
- 41. Gall D, Roth D, Stauffert JP, Zarges J, Latoschik ME. Embodiment in virtual reality intensifies emotional responses to virtual stimuli. *Front Psychol.* 2021;12:674179. PubMed
- 42. Fandim JV, Saragiotto BT, Porfirio GJM, Santana RF. Effectiveness of virtual reality in children and young adults with cerebral palsy: a systematic review of randomized controlled trial. Braz J Phys Ther. 2021;25(4):369-386. PubMed
- 43. Lei C, Sunzi K, Dai F, et al. Effects of virtual reality rehabilitation training on gait and balance in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(11):e0224819. PubMed
- 44. Maples-Keller JL, Yasinski C, Manjin N, Rothbaum BO. Virtual reality-enhanced extinction of phobias and post-traumatic stress. *Neurotherapeutics*. 2017;14(3):554-563. PubMed
- 45. Skurla MD, Rahman AT, Salcone S, et al. Virtual reality and mental health in older adults: a systematic review. Int Psychogeriatr. 2022;34(2):143-155. PubMed
- 46. Weech S, Kenny S, Barnett-Cowan M. Presence and cybersickness in virtual reality are negatively related: a review. Front Psychol. 2019;10:158. PubMed
- 47. Hughes CL, Fidopiastis C, Stanney KM, Bailey PS, Ruiz E. The psychometrics of cybersickness in augmented reality. Front Virtual Real. 2020;1:602954.
- 48. Kaimara P, Oikonomou A, Deliyannis I. Could virtual reality applications pose real risks to children and adolescents? A systematic review of ethical issues and concerns. Virtual Real. 2022;26(2):697-735. PubMed
- 49. Madary M, Metzinger TK. Real virtuality: a code of ethical conduct. Recommendations for good scientific practice and the consumers of VR-technology. Front Robot Al. 2016;3:3.
- 50. Slater M, Gonzalez-Liencres C, Haggard P, et al. The ethics of realism in virtual and augmented reality. Front Virtual Real. 2020;1:1.
- 51. IEEE Standards Association. IEEE Virtual Reality and Augmented Reality Working Group (CTS/VRARSC/VRARWG). https://sagroups.ieee.org/2048wg/. Accessed 2023 Jan 31.
- Food and Drugs Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. F-27. Ottawa (ON): Department of Justice Canada; 1985: <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-27/index.html</u>. Accessed 2023 Jan31.
- 53. Guidance document guidance on the risk-based classification system for non-in vitro diagnostic devices (non-IVDDs). Ottawa (ON): Health Canada; 2014: https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/medical-devices/application-information/guidance-documents/guidance-document-guidance-risk-based-classification-system-non-vitro-diagnostic.html. Accessed 2023 Jan 31.
- 54. Guidance document: software as a medical device (SaMD): definition and classification. Ottawa (ON): Health Canada; 2019: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/medical-devices/application-information/guidance-documents/software-medical-device-guidance-document.html.</u> Accessed 2023 Jan 31.